
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine 
Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  

Date:   Thursday, 2nd September, 2021 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Rose Blaney   Tel: 07385 362773 

 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:   

  
To receive declarations by Members and/ or co-optees of 
interests in respect of items on this Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised 
Code of Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interests or other registrable interests which have not 
already been declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is 
a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest 
either in the Register or at the meeting).  
 
Members are advised however, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared 
in the Register, as well as any other interests.  
 
Members are reminded that they may not, by law, participate or 
vote in any discussion in a meeting on a matter in which they 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest  
 
Members are advised that they should leave the room during 
consideration of any items of business in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2021  1 - 6 

4. Executive Forward Plan  7 - 12 

5. 2020-21 Finance Report - Q4  13 - 30 

6. Engagement with Schools Verbal Update  31 - 32 

7. Footway Lighting Report  33 - 46 

8. Scrutiny Officer Updates  47 - 52 

9. Date and Time of Next Meeting:   

 The next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
be held on Thursday 7th October 2021 at 2:00pm in The Atrium, 
The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven. 
 

 

 
 

Membership: Councillors John Kane (Chair), Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair), 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Joseph Ghayouba, 
Charles Maudling, Sam Meteer, Sam Pollen, Peter Tyson and Doug Wilson 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385 362773 
   E-mail: rose.blaney@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY, 8 JULY 2021 
 

Present: Councillors John Kane, in the Chair; Gwynneth Everett, Joseph 
Ghayouba and Sam Pollen 
 
Officers: Rose Blaney (Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)), Gillian 
Butterworth (Performance and Risk Management Officer) and Amanda Starr 
(Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager), Julie Friend (Housing Strategy 
and Development Officer) and Les Finley (Housing Renewal Team Leader). 
 
 

OSC13 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Felicity Wilson, Doug 
Wilson, James Date, Peter Tyson, Sam Meteer, Charles Maudling and Gemma 
Dinsdale. 
 

OSC14 Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:  
 
No Declarations of Interest were made. 
 

OSC15 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2021  
 
Councillors reviewed the minutes of the previous Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) meeting. 
 
Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote, the Committee agreed that the 
minutes of the meeting held on 10 June 2021 were approved as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

OSC16 Executive Forward Plan  
 

The Committee reviewed the Executive Forward Plan. 

Councillor Pollen asked if there was any update or further information regarding 
the Moss Bay Enterprise Trust item and noted that the Constitution was 
confirmed to be going to Full Council in September. The Scrutiny Officer agreed 
to provide more information on Moss Bay Enterprise Trust once it was available. 

Resolved – That, 
a) With a unanimous vote for, the Committee agreed that the Executive 

Forward Plan be noted.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



b) The Scrutiny Officer will ask for an update on the Moss Bay Enterprise 

Trust to provide to the Committee 

 
OSC17 Update from Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee  

 
The Chair noted that the next scheduled Cumbria Health & Scrutiny Committee 
meeting is on 21st July 2021. 
 

OSC18 Update from the Single Table Trade Union Group (STTUG) 
representative  
 
Councillor Pollen updated members on the topics discussed at the last STTUG 
meeting with highlights looking at seasonal staffing statistics, a health and safety 
update, a Covid update and an LGR update. 
 
The Chair asked if there was any consistency into who was hired as seasonal 
staff. The Scrutiny Officer noted that they would follow up with the Community 
Services Manager as to the answer. But commented that, where possible, staff 
were usually retained. 
 
Councillor Ghayouba asked what the percentage of workers within the Council 
were seasonal workers. The Scrutiny Officer confirmed that they would seek the 
answer to this from the Community Services Manager. 
 
Councillor Pollen reminded the Committee that the Council is a living wage 
authority and are not supporting zero-hour contracts. 
 

OSC19 Corporate Performance Report for Quarter 4 2020-21  
 

The Performance and Risk Management Officer gave an overview of the report 
and then invited questions from the Committee. 

Councillor Pollen noted that the report showed excellent performance during 
such challenging times. He then went on to ask; relating to KPI 2, how many 
empty homes are there in total across Copeland?* Relating to KPI 3, what is the 
target for new homes approved for 2021/22? Relating to KPI 4, what is the 
target for new homes built for 2021/22? And finally, relating to KPI 7, is this all 
the money secured by council for Economic Development and what does the 
acronym MHCLG RDEL stand for? The Performance and Risk Management 
Officer noted that they didn’t have the answers to hand, but would provide 
them after the meeting to the Scrutiny Officer who would distribute them. 

Page 2



Councillor Pollen also asked the Scrutiny Officer for further information to be 
supplied regarding the current situation and the money that the Council 
currently have against; the Cleator Moor and Millom Towns Fund, Whitehaven 
Future High Street Fund, Egremont Borderlands, Egremont Towns Fund and the 
LOBO (Lender Option, Borrower Option) Loan secured by the council. The 
Scrutiny Officer replied that they would provide the committee with written 
answers following the meeting once they had received the information 
requested. 

Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote for, the Committee agreed to note the 
performance against Key Performance Indicators. 

*The question was asked again and answered later on in the meeting. 

 
OSC20 Housing Complaints Guidance  

 

The Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager, the Housing Strategy and 
Development Officer and the Housing Renewal Team Leader gave a 
presentation to inform members of the procedural Housing Complaints 
Guidance created, which had been requested by the Housing Task & Finish 
Group. 

The Chair asked for clarification around the different procedures and response 
times social housing providers may have. He also asked about access to social 
housing to deal with issues. The Housing Renewal Team Leader noted that a 
tenant should be made aware of the reports procedure related to their property 
when discussing the tenancy agreement. The Strategic Housing and Social 
Inclusion Manager commented that there are legal requirements around 
emergency responses, dependent on the situation, which is 24 hours. It is 
discretionary around planned works but housing standards are set out in 
legislation. They noted that, since Grenfell, a tenant panel may be established to 
provide more transparency and a better relationship between tenants and social 
housing providers. They also explained that the Council have worked to develop 
a stronger and more transparent relationship with Home Group which includes 
monthly meetings. 

Councillor Pollen thanked the team for producing the procedural guidance and 
the flowchart included within, as it will be a great help to all councillors, 
especially when there are challenging situations. He also noted that, with social 
housing providers, there is a lot of good things going on that aren’t always seen. 

Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote for, the procedural Housing Complaints 
Guidance be sent to all members. 

 

Page 3



OSC21 DFG Discretionary Payments Presentation  
 

The Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager gave the Committee some 
background information into Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and then worked 
with the Housing Renewal Team Leader to give the Committee a summary of the 
discretionary measures piloted for the Disabled Facilities Grant which they 
would like to implement into policy. 

Councillor Pollen thanked the team for the presentation and the great work that 
they do that he believed is not praised enough. He also asked for further 
information regarding the budget for DFGs, both discretionary and mandatory. 
The Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager noted that there are rarely 
applications that exceed £50,000 (only one or two) but those that do require 
special approval from the Manager. The Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion 
Manager has the authority to approve grants of up to £75,000 but they inform 
the Chief Executive and Full Council of those that come in over £50,000. They 
also noted that the Council work closely with the Occupational Therapists (OTs) 
so that they will be aware of what grants may be coming in advance and 
therefore can allocate and plan accordingly regarding the budget. 

Councillor Pollen then asked if those who were not able to afford improvements 
then lead to empty homes and offered his full support. The Strategic Housing 
and Social Inclusion Manager agreed that, yes that sometimes is the case, and 
noted that there are around 600 long term empty homes and the total number 
of empty homes has dropped to around 1,000. 

Councillor Everett thanked the team for the presentation and asked, in relation 
to private housing, what happens when regarding deceased residents and 
recouping the costs when the property is sold. The Housing Renewal Team 
Leader noted that they can recoup the costs, but they tend not to when a 
resident has passed away or gone into a care home. As it is not a gift, it is 
registered as a land charge and the team have the discretion of being able to 
decide if they would like to recoup the costs should the house be sold. 

Councillor Everett also asked about social housing and then retaining the 
equipment installed, even with a healthy person moving in. The Strategic 
Housing and Social Inclusion Manager commented that the there is a gap in 
social housing and that it’s not straight forward as to whether the Council would 
be able to remove and store things such as stair lifts. Mainly due to the space 
required to store the items and the maintenance required to keep them usable. 
Wheelchair adaptations are the most common where this happens. They noted 
that social housing providers business models tend to require properties to be in 
use, so they can’t keep properties empty just because of the improvements 
made in a property, especially those which are bespoke as it would be too hard 

Page 4



to find a possible tenant with a similar requirement. Also, there are those who 
do not want a disabled/adapted bathroom when they move into a property, so 
the landlord may have it ripped out. The Housing Renewals Team Leader 
commented that where it’s possible, the Council do recycle adaptations. 

Councillor Pollen asked for some clarifications around repayments. The Housing 
Renewal Team Leader noted that the Council have the discretion when it comes 
to repayments and it will depend on the situations. For example, if a child passes 
away, the Council won’t claim. However, if after an adaptation the family move 
(within ten years), they will reclaim. 

The Chair asked if there was any housing stock kept in reserve for those with 
disabilities. The Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion Manager informed the 
Committee that social landlords do a have a number of adapted units within 
their new schemes and with choice based lettings there are additional points for 
adaptations. With the DFGS, most adaptations are bespoke and, as mentioned 
before, business models would not allow for a property to remain empty until a 
new tenant with the same bespoke needs was found. It was also notes that 
some social housing does not allow for wet floor showers to be installed 
upstairs, so the design is amended to include step instead which can be easier to 
remove if required. 

Councillor Ghayouba thanked the team for the presentation, noting that it 
would help improve situations by tacking the root causes and look at 
preventative measures. 

Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote for, the Committee support the 
initiative and recommend to the Executive that the Discretionary measures 
piloted be incorporated into the Disabled Facilities Grant Policy.  

 
OSC22 Recycling Task & Finish Group Report  

 

The Scrutiny Officer presented the Recycling Task and Finish Group Report on 
behalf of Councillor Jeanette Forster (Chair of the Recycling Task & Finish Group) 
who had sent her apologies. The Scrutiny Officers highlighted the key areas of 
the report and talked the Committee through the recommendations in Part 7 of 
the report. 

Councillor Ghayouba asked whether Copeland no longer supplying every 
household in the Borough with a recycling calendar was a loss of service. It was 
noted that it was rather a change in policy rather than a loss. 

Thanks were given to the Chair of the Group and Scrutiny Officer for their hard 
work, commenting that waste and recycling is such a key service that the council 
hasn’t achieved its fullest potential with. 

Page 5



Resolved – That, with a unanimous vote for, the Committee agreed to accept 
the recommendations in Part 7 of the report and forward those 
recommendations to the Executive. 

 
OSC23 Scrutiny Officer Updates  

 

The Scrutiny Officer gave an overview of the Task & Finish Group Updates and 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) Work Programme.  

It was noted that the Recycling Task & Finish Group had completed their work, 
that the two Health and Wellbeing Task & Finish Groups had redrafted their 
scopes believing that they were initially too broad to create a meaningful impact 
and that the Budget Monitoring Working Group had met but that it would be 
undergoing a change to the scope and would therefore not be providing a report 
at the August Committee meeting. 

It was unanimously agreed by the Committee that the updates from the 
Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee and the Single Table Trade Union Group 
(STTUG) representative, would be removed from the standing items list. Any 
updates would be presented to the group at the informal OSC meetings. 
Housing would also be removed from the standing items list. This would leave 
the Executive Forward Plan and the Scrutiny Officer Updates as the only two 
items to be on the standing items list, with the latter only being present on the 
agenda when there was an update to give. 

It was noted that the Scrutiny Training will be scheduled to take place before the 
next meeting and a possible date and time will be circulated following the 
meeting. Following the training, an in-depth look at the work programme will 
take place to review and it and redesign it. 

 
OSC24 Date and Time of Next Meeting:  

 
The Chair informed members that the next Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be held on Thursday 5th August 2021 at 2pm in the Copeland Centre.  
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 3.49 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 6



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

  

  

Executive 24 August 2021 

MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN  

  

This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period.  

  

A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 

performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 

(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 

effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 

constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 

the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 

permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough.  

  

A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 

An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 

reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 

notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred.  

  

Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 

Deputy Mayor, Steven Morgan and Andy Pratt. 

  

Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 

containing confidential or exempt information.  

  

 

   

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

Cleator Moor Town 

Deal Heads of Terms 

offer – Project 

confirmation 

 

Executive Executive 

24 August 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive  

Yes No 

Drainage Issues - 

Lowca 

Executive Executive 

24 August 2021 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes Yes 

Strategic Asset 

Management Plan 

2021/22-2026/27 

 

Council Council 

7 September 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

Legionella Policy 

Update 2021/22 

 

Council Council 

7 September 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

Asbestos Policy 

Update 2021/22 

 

Council Council 

7 September 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

Shopfront Design 

Guide SPD Adoption 

 

Council Council 

7 September 2021 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

P
age 8



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

Copeland Local Plan 

2021-2038: Pre-

Publication Focussed 

Consultation 

 

Council Council 

7 September 2021 

Environment, Place 

and Inclusive 

Communities 

Cllr Andy Pratt 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

Yes No 

2020/21 Finance 

Outturn Report 

Council Council 

7 September 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 1 

Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 1  

 

Executive   Executive 

14 September 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Fleet Renewal Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Commercial Services 

Cllr Steven Morgan 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

P
age 9



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

GLL Contract 

Extension 

Executive Executive 

14 September 2021 

Commercial Services 

Cllr Steven Morgan 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes Yes 

Corporate Debt 

Recovery Policy 

Council Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Business Rates – 

Discretionary Rate 

Relief Policy 

Council Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Council 

7 December 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Moss Bay Enterprise 

Trust 

Executive Executive 

12 October 2021 

 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive  

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 2 

Executive Executive 

9 November 2021 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

P
age 10



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Report  Who will 

make the 

decision  

Date on which the 

decision will be 

made  

Portfolio  

Holder 

Lead Officer  Key  
Decision 

Likely to contain 
confidential 
or exempt 

information 
 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 2  

 

Executive   Executive 

9 November 2021 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Council 

Performance Plan – 

Quarter 3 

Executive Executive 

1 February 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

Sarah Pemberton – 

Director of Corporate 

Services and Commercial  

Strategy (M.O.) 

 

Yes No 

2021/22 Finance 

Report – Quarter 3  

 

Executive   Executive 

1 February 2022 

Mayor 

Mike Starkie 

Steven Brown –  

Director of Financial 

Resources  

 

Yes No 

Health and Safety 

Monitoring Half 

Yearly Report 

1st Jul – 31st Dec ‘21 

Executive Executive 

1 February 2022 

Nuclear & Corporate 

Services 

Cllr David Moore 

 

Pat Graham –  

Chief Executive 

 

No No 

  

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 05.08.21 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 
LEAD OFFICER: 

Mayor Mike Starkie (Portfolio Holder for 
Finance). 
Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources 
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE? 
This report provides the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the latest 
budget monitoring report to the Executive; included as Appendix A. 
 

SUMMARY: 
This report provides the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the 
2020/21 Q4 budget monitoring report presented to the Executive on 27th 
July 2021; included as Appendix A. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to:  

1. Note the Q4 budget monitoring report to the Executive attached. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive the quarterly budget 
monitoring reports to the Executive for consideration.  

2. CONCLUSIONS 

2.1. The Committee is asked to note the report. 

3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

3.1. Legal and Monitoring Officer’s comments are: No legal issues 
arise from the report. 

3.2. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the 
attached report. 

3.3. EIA Comments: N/A 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



3.4. Policy Framework: N/A 

3.5. Other consultee comments, if any: N/A 

List of Appendices  

Appendix A - 2019/20 Provisional Outturn by Service 
Appendix B - Carry forward of Budget Underspends and Use of Earmarked 
Reserves 
Appendix C - 2020/21 Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 

Page 14



EXECUTIVE – 27.07.21 
 
2020/21 Revenue & Capital Budget Monitoring Report – Provisional 
Outturn 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mayor Mike Starkie (Portfolio Holder for Finance). 
LEAD OFFICER: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
 

SUMMARY: 
 
This Provisional Outturn report sets out the year-end results against the 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets for the 2020/21 financial year. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
1. Note the 2020/21 Provisional Revenue Outturn of a £12k net overspend, 

(See Paragraph 1.5 and Appendix A);  
2. Note the summary of the revenue outturn variances (See Paragraph 1.8 

and Appendix A);  
3. Approve the budget carry forward requests of £225k and transfers from 

reserves (See Paragraph 1.9 and Appendix B & C);  
4. Note the provisional capital outturn for 2020/21 (See Paragraph 1.20); 

and 
5. Recommend to Council programming changes and amendments to the 

2021/22 Capital Programme following the provisional outturn for 
2020/21 (See Paragraph 1.21).                                                                               

 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report contains information on the Provisional Outturn position 
on spending against the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2020/21. The 
figures shown in this report are provisional and remain subject to 
change following completion of the 2018/19 external audit and 
2019/20 and 2020/21 Draft Statement of Accounts and subsequent 
external audit. 

Page 15



1.2.  The Net Revenue Budget agreed by Council on 10th February 2020 
for 2020/21 was £8,035k. The outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
subsequent lockdown on the 23rd March 2020, phased reopening of 
the economy and further lockdowns has had a significant impact on 
local authority finances and the impact may continue for the 2021/22 
financial year to some extent. In response to the pandemic additional 
costs have been incurred and/or income has reduced in the majority 
of some service areas across the Council. In response to the financial 
impact on local authorities revenue budgets, Government has 
announced a number of funding packages: 

- Emergency funding towards the additional response costs 
incurred totalling £1,275k, Council has approved the receipt of 
this funding and the subsequent increase to the net budget; 

- New Burdens grant funding of £130k to meet the delivery costs 
associated with awarding business rates grants to Local 
businesses; the net budget has been increased accordingly;  

- An income compensation scheme for lost sales, fees and charges 
was announced; committing to fund 75% of losses over a 
threshold (the threshold for CBC is £305k). Income under this 
scheme received to date is £334k; the net budget has been 
increased accordingly; and 

- Grant funding of £769k was also received to provide council tax 
relief to economically vulnerable people and households; this 
does not impact on the Council’s revenue budget. £45k of this 
grant was however allocated to support Local Welfare or similar 
schemes and the net budget was increased accordingly 

1.3. The resulting increase in the Council’s net budget is set out below: 

£’000 Budget 

Net Budget Approved by Council (Feb 2020) 8,005 

Emergency COVID19 funding towards the additional 
response costs 

1,275 

New Burdens grant funding of £130k  130 

Compensation scheme for lost sales, fees and charges 334 

Page 16



Grant was allocated to support Local Welfare or similar 
schemes 

45 

Revised Net Budget (provisional outturn) 9,789 
 

1.4. Following the COVID19 outbreak and resulting change in economic 
outlook for the country, there are a number of efficiencies in the 
2020/21 budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
2020/21 – 2024/25 that will not be delivered. This will have a 
financial impact in year and have been removed from the 2021/22 
budget and MTFS, these include: 

- Net income of additional Commercial Activity of £1.35m by 2023; 
£338k in 2020/21 increasing to £1,350k by 2023/24; and 

- Additional efficiency savings of £250k in 2020/21 increasing to 
£500k by 2021/22; and 

1.5. The table below summarises the provisional outturn position against 
the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2020/21. 

£’000 
Revised 
Budget 

Net Exp Variance 
Q3 

Variance 

Net Expenditure on Services 9,789 9,801 12 80 

Less Sources of Finance (9,789) (9,789) 0 100 

   12 180 

 

1.6. The Provisional Outturn for the Council shows a net overspend of 
£12k however, this is after use of COVID funding provided by 
Government of over £1m, thus the underlying overspend before 
COVID funding was over £1m.  

1.7. Service variances over £100k are summarised in the following 
paragraphs, with Appendix A showing all service areas within each 
Directorate. 

Page 17



 

Directorate / Service £’000 
Provisional 

Outturn 
Q3 Variance 

Business Support (ICT) 398 369 

Financial Services 138 186 

Parks & Open Spaces (129) (90) 

Refuse & Recycling 699 1,009 

Revenues & Benefits 229 283 

Additional COVID19 Budget  (1,009) (1,408) 

Other (Net Total) (314) (269) 

Total 12 80 

 

1.8. A summary of the main variances are summarised below: 

a)  Business Support (ICT); the provisional outturn overspend of 
£398k primarily relates to additional server costs of £237k; 
some of these additional costs relate to COVID19 and 
upgrading our IT infrastructure. There is an underlying 
pressure and the budget has been rebased for 2021/22. 

b) Financial Services; the provisional outturn overspend of £138k 
primarily relates to covid pressures on the Sport and Leisure 
(GLL) contract. 

c) Parks and Open Spaces achieved an underspend of (£129k) 
reflecting additional income generated over the year.  

d) Refuse and Recycling; there are COVID19 pressures in many 
areas across the service, albeit overall the outturn is less than 
forecast at Q3, the key variances are set out below: 

o £117k of additional COVID related costs; 

o £323k loss of parking income due to Covid and offering free 
car parking; 

o £44k higher than budgeted business rates; 

o £61k loss of budgeted markets income; 

Page 18



o £92k loss of trade waste income; 

o £64k extra staffing costs to operate green waste service; 

o £44k increased staffing costs on residents recycling service; 

o £24k redundancy costs; and 

o £61k loss of budgeted recycling credits. 

o Note the budget has been rebased in 2021/22. 

e) Revenues & Benefits; a provisional outturn overspend of £229k 
is due to additional costs incurred to pay business rate grants 
and apply reliefs, these have largely been met by additional 
grant however, and income from Benefit overpayments and 
Council Tax summons has reduced significantly due to the 
demands on the service. This budget has been rebased for 
2021/22. 

f) The additional COVID budget received in the year was £1.6m, 
£1m was needed in 2020/21 with the balance transferred to 
the COVID reserve. 

Carry forward of Budget Underspends and Use of Earmarked 
Reserves 

1.9.  Budget underspends totalling £225k have been requested to be 
carried forward and are included in Appendix B, these have been 
assumed to be approved within this provisional outturn report, if not 
approved the overspend would be reduced accordingly. Appendix B 
also sets out the use of reserves during 2020/21. 

2020/21 Efficiency Plan 

1.10. The 2020/21 Budget agreed by Council identified £1,425k of 
efficiencies required to balance the budget. The position against 
these for the year is set out in the table below:  

Page 19



 

Efficiencies £’000  Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 

Commercial Income (338) 0 338 

Efficiency Savings (250) 0 250 

Cost of the Copeland Centre (837) (837) 0 

Total (1,425) (837) 588 
 

Sources of Finance 

1.11. Financing of the Council’s net Revenue budget of £9,789k is set out 
below. Business Rates Pooling income is based on the returns from 
all the cumbrian district councils, the estimate has been provided at 
budget but it is likely there will be a variance although it is not likely 
to exceed £100k. 

Sources of Finance £’000 
Revised 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 

Variance 

Revenue Support Grant (40) (40) 0 

Rural Services Delivery Grant (48) (48) 0 

COVID19 - Emergency Support Grant (1,608) (1,608) 0 

COVID19 - Other Grants added to 
service budgets 

(175) (175) 0 

Business Rates (3,204) (3,204) 0 

Business Rates Pooling (200) (200) 0 

New Homes Bonus (98) (98) 0 

Council Tax (4,382) (4,382) 0 

Council Tax: Collection Fund Surplus (34) (34) 0 

Total Sources of Finance (9,789) (9,789) 0 
 

General Reserves 

1.12. The General Reserve is part of our risk management process and is 
retained to protect the Council in the event of major unforeseen 
events as well as provide a buffer against future financial risks in the 
medium term; clearly the COVID19 pandemic is a major unforeseen 

Page 20



event. The minimum level of General Reserve was agreed by Council 
in February 2020 at £2,000k. The table overleaf sets out the changes 
to the General Fund to 31st March 2021: 

 £’000 

Balance as at 1st April 2020 (based on the unaudited 
positon) 

(2,013) 

Forecast Outturn for 2020/21 12 

Forecast balance as at 31st March 2021 (2,001) 

Minimum level agreed by Council (Feb 2020) (2,000) 
 

1.13. The General Reserve balance of £2,001k is at the minimum level of 
agreed by Council in February 2020. Note that Council has also added 
£180k to the reserve as part of the 2021/22 MTFS.   

1.14. Note the budget for 2020/21 assumed use of the ‘Shortfall in 
External Resources’ reserve of £1,188k leaving a balance as at 31st 
March 2021 of £2,008k. The 2021/22 budget agreed by Council in 
February assumes use of the reserve of £1,845k and £1,500k 
capitalisation directive to balance the budget; note the capitalisation 
directive is subject to final approval by the secretary of state and thus 
remains a risk for the 2021/22 budget.  

1.15. There is significant uncertainty regarding the funding of local 
government from central Government as we await the results of the 
Fair Funding Review. The Council cannot continue to rely on its 
usable reserves to balance the budget. Over the next 12 months, as 
the funding and costs become clearer for the medium term the 
Council must consider options to balance the budget in the medium 
term without having to rely on reserves. 

Irrecoverable Debts 

1.16. The Financial Regulations and Corporate Debt Recovery Policy set out 
the process and limitations for writing off irrecoverable debts. The 
following table summarises the debts written off during the year by 
the Chief Finance Officer. It is crucial that old debts do not block the 
system of debt recovery and regular reviewing of debts must be 

Page 21



carried out. All of the debts below are provided for in the Bad Debt 
provision and therefore there is no impact on the Councils budgets in 
the year.  

1.17. A summary of the Debts written off is set out below along with the 
number in brackets. 

Council Tax Business Rates Sundry Debts Total 

26,613.63 
(28) 

27,693.59 
(7) 

15,588.53 
(53) 

69,895.75 
(88) 

 

1.18.  Both Council Tax and Business Rates write offs cover all preceptors 
not just Copeland; for example 13% of the Council Tax write offs 
relate to CBC.  

1.19.  All Council Tax and Business Rates debts were written off due to 
insolvency reasons. For Sundry Debts, most of the debt written off 
was due to insolvency and a small number were uneconomical to 
pursue. Examples of insolvency: Debt Relief Orders, Individual 
Voluntary Arrangements, Bankruptcy and Company Liquidation.  

Capital Budget 

1.20. Council approved the revised Capital Programme for 2020/21 at its 
meeting on 25th February 2021, this has been updated below with 
2020/21 provisional outturn amendments, amendments approved by 
Council and revisions following final grant approvals, this is set out in 
Appendix B.  

Project £’000 
Revised 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 

Variance 
Proposed 

c/f 

 Accommodation Strategy**  1,413  1,137  (276) 27 

 Whitehaven Cemetery Extension  67  -    (67) 67 

 Bereavement Services  54  55  1 0 

 Disabled Facilities Grants   1,040  573  (467) 467 

 Development  1,561  846  (715) 310 

 Coastal Programme  509  124  (385) 385 

Page 22



Project £’000 
Revised 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 

Variance 
Proposed 

c/f 

 Beacon Virtual Museum**  250  256  6 6 

 IT Infrastructure  50  142  92 92 

 Coastal Activity Centre* 931  558  (373) 373 

 Towns Fund  1,125  262  (863) 863 

 Harbour Flood Defence Works* 150  50  (100) 100 

 Capitalisation Flexibility   100  -    (100) 100 

 ISH Project 2,250  2,089  (161) 0 

Total 9,500 6,092 (3,408) 2,790 

* Accountable Body 
** After adjustment from 2019/20 outturn 

1.21. The variances against the capital programme was £3,408k with the 
high value variances explained below, the Executive is asked to 
recommend to Council that the revised capital programme for 
2021/22 is amended to include the proposed carry forward capital 
budgets of £2,790k as set out above. 

- Accommodation Strategy – the Copeland Centre works have now 
been completed under budget with just retention to pay. 
Contribution from SL of £663k to the project is outstanding.  

- Disabled Facilities Grants – note that there are commitments of 
£395k relating to the 2020/21 grant. 

- Development – expenditure during the year included property 
purchases as part of the Whitehaven regeneration programme, 
the carry forward includes the Council element of the funding 
only.  

- Coastal Programme – The carry forward reflects delays in 
commencing the programme due to COVID. 

- Coastal Activity Centre - The carry forward reflects delays in 
commencing the project due to COVID. 

- Towns Fund – Expenditure has been incurred during the first 
quarter of 2021/22. 

Page 23



Treasury Management 

1.22. The Treasury Management function supports the overall objectives 
and priorities of the Council, by the use of effective treasury 
management techniques. The aim is to manage risks and ensure 
there are sufficient cash resources and long-term borrowings to 
finance the Council’s activities and capital investment programme 
whilst balancing this to the secondary objective of trying to minimise 
the costs of the net interest budget.  

1.23. Long term borrowing remains at £5m as at Q4 (£5m at 31/12/20) and 
investments are £31.572m as at 31st March. There is a net interest 
cost to the Council, this is due to interest on the loan being c7.5% 
and investment interest being around 0.05% included in the Council’s 
budget.   

1.24. The Council undertook no new borrowing in Q4 and is not expected 
to undertake any further long-term borrowing during 2021/22 in 
accordance with the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy.  

CONCLUSIONS 

1.25. The recommendations allow the preparation of the statutory 
financial statements of the Council. 

2. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  

2.1. Legal/ Monitoring Officer’s Comments are: No legal issues arise from 
the report. 

2.2.  The Section 151 Officer’s comments are contained within the report. 

2.3. EIA Comments: Not applicable.  

2.4.  Policy Framework: Not applicable. 

2.5. Other Consultee Comments, if any: None. 

3. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 

3.1.  Contained within the report 

Page 24



4. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 

4.1. The proposals will be managed by Director of Financial Resources. 

5. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT? 

5.1. Contained within the body of the report. 

List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A: 2019/20 Provisional Outturn by Service 
Appendix B: Carry forward of Budget Underspends and Use of Earmarked 
Reserves 
Appendix C: 2020/21 Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
None 
 
  

Page 25



Appendix A 
2020/21 Provisional Outturn by Service 
 

Service £'000 Budget Net Exp Variance

Beacon Museum 334,496 286,210 (48,286)

Building Control 96,321 108,232 11,911

Business Support 834,589 1,232,982 398,393

Chief Executive (472,490) (421,362) 51,128

Communications 88,626 86,246 (2,380)

Copeland Community Fund 0 0 (0)

Customer Services 343,133 287,976 (55,157)

Democratic Services 455,499 412,882 (42,617)

Development Control 29,020 70,285 41,265

Dir Corp Serv & Comm Strategy 318,379 275,250 (43,129)

Economic Development 197,292 180,698 (16,594)

Elections 120,684 63,309 (57,375)

Environmental Health 516,029 529,990 13,961

Financial Services 854,977 993,204 138,227

Head of Corporate Resources 0 0 0

Human Resources 337,567 331,343 (6,224)

Internal Audit 124,877 65,572 (59,305)

Legal & Procurement Services 212,955 181,620 (31,335)

Nuclear 800 0 (800)

Park & Open Spaces (35,650) (165,103) (129,453)

Property & Estates 231,051 190,477 (40,574)

Refuse & Recycling 2,033,076 2,732,187 699,111

Revenues & Benefits 700,100 928,636 228,536

Strategic Housing 619,059 586,892 (32,167)

Strategic Planning 239,610 243,743 4,133

Additional Budget to be 

allocated to services
1,609,115 600,000 (1,009,115)

Grand Total 9,789,115 9,801,268 12,153

Page 26



Appendix B 
2020/21 Carry Forward Requests 
 

Budget Description 
Amount 
to Carry 
Forward 

Reason for Request 

Beacon - Marketing 22,231 Underspend on budget due to Covid-19 

Economic Development - other 
project costs 

5,000 

Unspent budget for 20/21 against Economic Development Revenue 
cost centre of £10k. Proposal to carry forward to 21/22 and reallocate 
budget to Towns Funds development cost centre and split 50:50 
between Towns 

Economic Development - other 
project costs 

5,000 

Unspent budget for 20/21 against Economic Development Revenue 
cost centre of £10k. Proposal to carry forward to 21/22 and reallocate 
budget to Towns Funds development cost centre and split 50:50 
between Towns 

HR - Training 30,000 Underspend - Transfer to LGR support for HR 2021/22 

HR - Legal & Professional Fees 9,500 
Underspend on Legal & Professional Fees - Transfer to LGR support 
for HR 2021/22 

HR - Relocation 5,980 Underspend on Relocation - Transfer to LGR support for HR 2021/22 

HR - Advertising 4,000 Underspend on Advertising - Transfer to LGR support for HR 2021/22 

P
age 27



Budget Description 
Amount 
to Carry 
Forward 

Reason for Request 

HR - Medical Fees 2,300 
Underspend on Medical Fees - Transfer to LGR support for HR 
2021/22 

HR - H&S 8,928 
Underspend - Carry forward to support ISO one off examination fee - 
Transfer to LGR support for HR 2021/22 

Internal works income  - 
Lighting on Car Parks 

13,046 To support testing on own equipment  

DFG Management fee 40,550 

The proposed Carry forward which is ring fenced to the DFG budget is 
to be used to fund an additional post in the renewals team over the 
next few years, additionally it may also be used to fund a 
Housing/DFG apprentice. 

Empty Homes 18,450 

Cost of agency staff was less this year as suspended contract during 
covid lockdown so no payments for 5 months.  Would like to retain as 
a small project pot to support empty homes work as part of recovery.  
Retain to link strategically with work around towns fund etc to deal 
with empty homes that are a blight in these priority areas as we roll 
out regen plans. 

SL ltd Social Impact Fund  10,000 

Underspend due to impact of covid and savings made e.g. Beacon did 
not take their contribution this year.  Allocated to Community 
resilience needs  - 10k  to Thrift Hub in April to be matched by CCC 
pending long term funding secured. 

P
age 28



Budget Description 
Amount 
to Carry 
Forward 

Reason for Request 

Crematorium - Other Project 
Costs 

45,000 
Request to carry forward budget to set against pressurised budget 
lines for 21/22 

William Pit Memorial  5,000 Unspent general repairs budget 

  224,985 

  

P
age 29



Appendix C 
 

2020/21 Transfers to Earmarked Reserves 
 

Budget Description £ Reason 

Covid Emergency Funding  600,000 
Transfer of unused funding to support 2021/22 
COVID related pressures 

NDA - Cyber Security 295,891 Transfer of contribution 

Beacon 319,485 Transfer of grants received 

Housing 130,000 Transfer of housing grants  

North County Leisure 111,682 Transfer of contribution to leisure facilities 

Holding Costs FHSF 62,810 Transfer of unspent contribution to support costs of 
FHSF properties 

Nuclear Issues 41,521 Transfer of contribution 

Leconfield Ind Estate 39,797 Transfer of unspent contribution to 2021/22 

FCERM St Bees 19,161 Transfer of contribution 

FCERM Seascale 19,052 Transfer of contribution 

Tourism 14,930 Transfer of contribution 

Chief Executive - Open for business 
conference 

3,043 Transfer funding back to reserve 

Responsible Authority (Nuclear) 12,952 Transfer of contribution 

  1,670,324 

  

P
age 30



P
age 31

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



3  

 

 

OSC 02.09.21 
   

Footway Lighting     
                                    
LEAD MEMBER: Cllr Steven Morgan (Portfolio Holder for Commercial 

Services) 
LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton Director of Corporate Services & 

Commercial Strategy  
DEPT MANAGER: 
REPORT AUTHOR: 

Emanuel Flecken (Parks & Open Spaces Manager)  
Clare Longworth (Open Spaces Officer)  

 
Why has this report come to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee?  
The Committee requested an update regarding the Footway Lighting situation within 
Copeland. 
 
 
 
SUMMARY: The report provides an update on the work carried out this year and 
outlines all the information needed for the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) to make 
an informed decision on how to proceed with the foot lighting. It also gives a good 
level of information on where we currently are.  
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
For Overview and Scrutiny to note and provide feedback. 
 
  
 

1. BACKGROUND  
 

1.1 Overview and Scrutiny requested to have an update be brought to the 
committee following a brief overview given by the Portfolio Holder at a Full 
Council meeting. 

1.2 The initial request was to have a Task & Finish Group created to review the 
Footway Lighting. However, following further conversations, it was agreed to 
have the progress report be brought to OSC for them to have more information 
before the Committee decide how they would like to move forward. 

1.3 The report within the appendix was given to CLT for them to note the changes 
and approve the recommendations. 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



4  

2.  Next Steps 
 
2.1 The Committee are asked to note the progress report. 
2.2 The Committee are also asked to provide feedback, predominantly to determine 

how they would like to proceed with the issue. 
    
 
3.     CONCLUSION  

 

3.1 The Committee requested a progress update on Footway Lighting which is 
included within the attached report 

3.2 The Committee are asked to review the report and consider the next steps. 
 
 
 
 
Background Paper and Appendices: Footway Lighting Progress Report 

Page 34



 
                                     CLT 2021 

LEAD MEMBER: Cllr Steve Morgan (Portfolio Holder for Commercial 
Services) 

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy 

DEPT MANAGER: Emanuel Flecken (Parks & Open Spaces Manager) 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: Clare Longworth (Open Spaces Officer) 
 
FOOTWAY LIGHTING 
 
 
PREVIOUS DETAILS REPORTED TO CLT 
 
Previous reports informed CLT of the Council’s footway lighting assets and liabilities, and 
of the current policy and management position.  This included an overview of how a 
renewed focus on this service would allow us to better manage the budgetary pressures 
related to increasing electricity costs, avoid duplication of service with CCC street 
lighting, and direct the team’s decision making on how we prioritise maintenance works 
and service provision.    Through discussions with CLT an opportunity was identified and 
agreed to accelerate the implementation of the Councils’ policy position on footway 
lighting by seeking to transfer responsibilities for footway lighting to others including 
Town and Parish Councils. The majority of Town and Parish Councils were unwilling to 
adopt any lighting or further lighting. 
 
This report provides an update on the work carried out this year and outlines changes 
and recommendations. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
1.  To note the current footway lighting policy, provision and costs.   
 
2.  To note the work carried out to  implement the council’s footway lighting policy, as 
summarised at 2.1 of this report. 

 

3.  Consider and agree to the opportunity to negotiate with Parish Councils to return the 
previous 20 lights previously funded by them. The return of the said lights to CBC will 
result in a smoother transition into LGR. 

 

4.  Note the change of our electricity provider to realise energy cost savings of circa 
£22k per annum. 
 

Page 35



6.  Note the current lack of electricity and visual structural testing and condition 
reporting on all CBC lights in line with statutory legislation. To carry out this works at a 
cost of circa £62.50 per light equates to Approx. £70,187 and note the typical 
maintenance costs (at section 2.6) that may emerge following the condition reports.   
 
7.    Note the LGR information and high-level future lighting options on LED bulb/lantern 
replacement and solar LED outlined at section 2.10 of this report and consider tasking 
the Commercial Project Officer and Open Spaces Officer with exploring and developing 
these options further for all or specific footway lighting.   Also note that if works are 
carried out to swap to LED this will eliminate the need to carry out electrical testing 
identified in point 6. 
 
 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND 
  

1.1 There is currently no statutory duty on local authorities to provide public lighting 
in open spaces, but all three tiers of local government have the power to do so if 
they wish. Historically a split was made between what was classed as Footway 
lighting and Street/Road lighting. Copeland Borough Council was assigned what 
were deemed to be Footway lighting with all other lighting being managed by 
County. The Council is currently responsible for 1200 footway lights across the 
borough in a variety of urban and rural locations.  There is an approximate even 
split between rural and urban lighting with rural lighting being slightly higher at 
54.87 %. 
 

1.2 In April 2013 a report on footway lighting was considered by Executive (Appendix 
I) following an announcement from ENW that lighting on telegraph poles was to 
be removed. When looking at costing to switch lights from poles to columns the 
cost was vast; as a result, it was recommended a management approach 
consistent with those adopted for other ‘street scene’ assets.  This approach 
recognised that the Council could not continue to maintain the current level of 
footway lighting within existing revenue budgets and therefore a phased 
withdrawal of provision was initiated.  Since the appointment of the Open 
Spaces Officer, we have been able to give a renewed focus in this area with work 
undertaken to map our lighting assets on GIS scan all paper maps into an 
electronic format and to improve the administration of our asset management 
information and repairs.  
Previously CCC managed all reports re lighting and it was recognised that                           

monthly maintenance charges were quite substantial. Bringing the reporting  
aspect inhouse   allowed the Open Spaces officer to ensure that lighting reported 

 was in fact CBC lighting and then make decisions around repairs based on CBC 
 policy. This reduced budget pressures and ensured that CBC funds were 

Page 36



allocated solely to CBC lighting. 

 

1.3 Since the Executive report in 2013 the Council has continued to:  
 

o maintain existing footway lighting on a reactive basis  
o facilitate requests for new lights but only on the basis that all capital and 

revenue costs are wholly funded by a third party (such as a Parish 
Council or Housing Association) 

o remove footway lights where they are in a poor physical condition or 
damaged beyond repair with no automatic replacement unless funded 
by a third party.  The exception being where the Council is required to 
provide lighting in discharge of other legal duties, e.g., duty of care, 
reducing crime/fear of crime, public safety – assessed on a case-by-case 
basis 

o undertake only basic repairs e.g., replacement bulbs, lantern changes, 
repairing minor faults 

o request quotations from our contractor for significant works e.g., 
replacement columns, and inviting Town and Parish Councils to fund 
these where required 

 
1.4 In December 2019 and then again in 2020 the Mayor wrote to all Town and 

Parish Councils to outline the Council’s policy position and to ask them to 
consider taking over responsibility for footway lighting in their areas.  In January 
2020, a further letter was sent to Town and Parish Councils from the Director of 
Corporate and Commercial Services to provide further information on our 
lighting inventory, share information on current costs, and to invite them to 
respond to a consultation feedback form.  In addition, Town & Parish Councils 
were asked to work proactively with us to check and update each local lighting 
inventory. The Open Spaces Officer has continued to work with both Town & 
Parish Councils providing them with further information and responding to any 
questions posed. 

 
2. MAIN REPORT 

 
2.1  Since the correspondence outlined in section 1.4, we have: 
 

 Consulted Town & Parish Councils on footway lighting 

 Request placed to legal team to contact third party landowners regarding lights 
located on their land (CCC and Home Group) 

 Identified lighting assets believed to be located in a highway location that are 
potentially transferrable to Cumbria County Council 

 Joined the CCC contract framework for cheaper electricity supply tariff on the 
network resulting in a large saving. 

Page 37



 Completed a mini tendering exercise to market test costs for electricity and 
visual structural tests, and general condition reporting.  Testing has been 
completed on 77 lights. (This exercise has used our lighting inventory in CBC car 
parks – which we would expect to retain) And had the assessments completed 
by UES. 

 Met with Cumbria Association of Local Councils (CALC) to agree to work 
collaboratively on this process and to secure their input to encourage Town and 
Parish Councils to respond to the consultation exercise.   

 
 
 
Consultation Outcome 
 

2.2  Since the consultation exercise was launched, the Open Spaces Officer along 
with support from Cllr Andy Pratt, has made further direct contact with all 27 
Town & Parish Councils to encourage engagement in the consultation exercise, 
and to provide them with any supplementary information requested in order to 
support their responses and decision making. 

 
2.3     The findings from the Town & Parish Councils consultation are as follows: 

 

 48% of Councils contacted returned their consultation forms  

 25% of Councils confirmed they already fund lighting from historic works to 
replace lighting  

 No Council identified any current lighting as being no longer required however 
one Council (Moresby) did note a duplication in lighting provision 

 100% of Councils that responded said that they would be happy to work with 
CBC to identify lighting considered to be in highways setting and potentially 
transferrable to CCC Highways 

 The majority of Councils responding did not engage with questions 4 and 5 of the 
consultation form which related to what level of responsibility they may be 
willing to take on and how this might operate/be funded, and on submitting any 
proposals on alternative funding streams.  (The absence of responses to these 
key questions appears to be based on advice to them from CALC) 

 Only one council (Whitehaven Town Council) indicated that they would consider 
the transfer of lights but on the condition that electrical and visual structural 
testing had been carried out in advance, and including bulbs and / or lanterns 
upgraded to LED   

 Some Councils have indicated that if they did consider taking over responsibility 
for footway lighting that this would impact on precepts with rises of over 50% for 
some.  One small Parish Council (Eskdale) indicated that they have a high 
number of holiday homes that do not contribute to taxes and as a result would 
likely be incapable of maintaining lights.   

Page 38



 A number of Councils have expressed concern that large increases in precepts 
would be needed for them to take on this responsibility, in particular where 
household numbers are low and there are a high number of lights in their area 

 One Council (Ponsonby) suggested a combination of lights being transferred to 
CCC with CBC retaining footway lights using increases in Council Tax to fund this; 
and allowing a combination of business rates and council tax to fund any lights 
they may accept 

 One Council highlighted lighting installed by private developers /housing 
associations and that were not maintained by CCC or CBC and questioned who 
would be maintaining these       
 

 
Seven Town/Parish councils currently own individual lighting within their area, 
amounting to 20 lights in total. This has been as a result of lighting coming to the end of 
its life or following accidents. CBC currently charges each Town/Parish Council a yearly 
fee, until such time as the lights are transferred successfully to CCC as part of a highway 
network CBC will continue to charge for electricity and maintenance.  
 
 
Budgets 
 
2.5   Currently maintenance of footway lighting is limited to our current policy position 

(refer 1.3),and contained within the current revenue budget of circa £40k.  
Annual electricity costs of circa £79k currently exceed the allocated revenue 
budget of £49k with the recent budget monitoring report projecting a £30k 
overspend.  No capital budgets are allocated to footway lighting, however, a carry 
forward of £25k revenue remains available to support budget pressures or 
transfer options, e.g. testing of lights. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Benchmarking Costs 
 
2.6  Reactive maintenance is currently in place with Cumbria County Council though 

there is no formal agreement provides us with a locally responsive maintenance 
service, however, there has been no recent market testing to ensure that the CBC 
is receiving value for money in this area. The absence of a formal contract for 
maintenance had resulted in poor inventory management over previous years – 
this includes record keeping and the absence of a planned programme of 
electrical and visual structural tests. Since 2018 a record of reporting repairs has 
been kept and maintained by the Open Spaces officer.  

Page 39



 
A rolling programme of testing in line with industry standards (TR22/BS 7671) is 
still needed in line with lighting guidelines. This should be carried out every 3-4 
years and should ideally be included in a comprehensive maintenance contract 
going forward.  To test current market rate prices and to better understand our 
costs, suitable contractors were recently invited to tender for works in CBC car 
park locations (assets that CBC would intend to keep, and which require testing).  
These works include: 
 

 Electrical testing BS7671 

 Visual Structural Testing (TR22) 

 Inventory recording / updating 

 Providing condition reports, including recommended works with estimated 

costings for any additional works required  

Prior to this exercise we estimated the costs of testing each light at approximately 
£100 per unit.  As a result of the tendering exercise costs have now reduced to 
£62.50 per unit.  Our current maintenance provider (CCC) also participated in the 
tendering exercise and submitted that they would charge £126.90 per unit.  For 
CBC car parks this means a revised cost of £4,812.50 for the 77 lights identified 
compared to the previous estimated cost of £7,700 (a 37.5% reduction).   
 
Note that the condition reporting to be provided through this exercise may 
identify other works required which would be costed separately.  
 
The testing was carried out and a number of lights were identified as needing 
works. The contractor who carried out the work has been asked to provide a 
costing to complete the works. 
 
 

2.7   Summary of Footway Lighting Income /Costs  
 

The previous report provided an overview of annual electricity and maintenance 
costs for footway lighting based simply on expenditure incurred in the previous 
financial year.  This crude calculation has been used historically to recover 
charges from Parish/Town councils for lights replaced by them (currently 20 
lights in this category across 7 Parish Councils). An annual charge of £88.42 per 
light per annum is levied which returns an income of £1768.40, and can be 
summarised as follows: 
 

Description Charge 

Electricity £46.30 per light 

Annual maintenance, materials and 
administration charge (based on expenditure 

£42.12 

Page 40



per year divided by the number of lights) 

Total  £88.42 

 
If we were able to facilitate and achieve the previously planned transfer of lights 
in highway locations to Cumbria County Council (circa 800) leaving then 
remailing light excluding car parks as lights transferable to Town and Parish 
Councils; initial works to test, clean and report on the condition of the remaining 
142 lights located within Town/Parish Council wards would cost circa £8,875.  It 
should be noted however this would exclude any investment in upgrading or 
other works that may be identified through the condition survey – such works 
and their estimated costs are summarised below:  
 
 

Other Typical Maintenance 
Costs 

  

Column replacement  £2500 per column   

Average replacement lantern 
cost 

£800 each  

Average wall box replacement   £1700  

Average Disconnection Cost £1k per light  

Average Replacement Column £3k per column  

Average Power Supply Re-
connection 

£2.5k per light  

Average decommissioning 
cost 

£3.5k per light  

Note: depending on location these prices may be greatly increased. 
 
In advance of considering transfer options it should also be noted that the Open 
Spaces Department appears to have no suitable documentation to evidence 
ownership of lighting whether in open spaces or attached to third party 
buildings/properties, and no documentation on underground wiring or permits 
to access such; issues that may affect a full transfer option. 

 
 

2.8   Transfer options 
 
Considerations were made on how we would wish to facilitate a transfer of 
responsibilities to Town & Parish Councils, and what charges would be applied for this.  
Priority would have been needed to agree this in order to allow the Town & Parish 
Councils to build this into their budget setting and precepts for 2021/22, assuming they 
wished to achieve a successful transfer option for that year. 
 

Page 41



It is likely that CALC and Town/Parish Councils would only consider transfer of footway 
lighting if it was confirmed that each light is in good working order and compliant with 
regulations, i.e. electrical and visual structural testing.  Some initial up-front investment 
therefore would  be required; in summary: 
 

Description Estimated cost per unit 
(labour price not 
included) 

Estimated cost for 142 units 
(non highway lights) 

Electrical and visual structural 
test, clean and condition report 

£62.50 £8,875 

Fitting of LED lamp (assuming 
apparatus is suitable)  

£55.00 £7,810 

Fitting of LED lantern (lighting 
head and lamp – assuming 
column is suitable and re-sleeving 
of column isn’t needed) *** 

£200.00 £28,400 

*** If LED lanterns are installed this will remove the need to conduct Electrical te3sting as part 
of the installation process includes this and all lanterns will be under a warranty. 
 
Note – depending upon the findings reported in each condition report finding other costs may 
arise as outlined in section 2.8 – other typical maintenance costs. 

 
Some transfer options to consider are: 
 
Risks 

 
2.9  The following potential risks were as part of the consultation identified through 

our work to date:   
 

 CCC refuse to take over lights identified as being on their land as a result 
of land no longer belonging to them.  (Alternative third parties may need 
to be identified and contacted) 

 Home Group refuse to accept lights on their land preventing a savings 
opportunity and reduction in lighting inventory   

 CCC refuses to take over part or all of the lighting identified as being 
located in a highway setting or apply specific criteria to prevent transfer 
(this will be costly as the number identified in this category is circa 787) 

 Town/Parish Councils are not willing to take on any or a limited 
proportion of the remaining lighting stock in their area 

 Town/Parish Councils will only take on lighting stock if fully inspected and 
brought up to a specific standard i.e. LED bulbs, electrical testing.  

 Once tested, lighting in specific areas may need significant works 
identified through the condition reports 

Page 42



 Lack of documentation to evidence ownership of lighting whether in 
open spaces or attached to third party buildings/properties, and no 
documentation on underground wiring or permits to access such 
 

2.10  Future lighting  
 

LGR  
With us now underway with LGR there are unknown possibilities with regards to how 
footway lighting going forwards will be managed and who will undertake the 
management responsibilities. Policy in terms of repairs and replacements differs across 
authorities based on budgets and legislation (footway/street/highway). 
 
At present lighting is managed by the following councils and relevant departments 
 

Authority Department Lighting type Inventory number 

Copeland Borough 
Council 

Parks & Open Spaces 
Dept 

Footway 1200 

Allerdale Borough 
Council 

Property Dept Footway  

Carlisle City Council  Footway 1300 

Cumbria County 
Council 

Lighting team Street Lighting 50,000* 

*.Across both north & south Cumbria 
Note: Some lighting on Motorways and A roads may come under the Highways Agency 
 
A small number of lights Approx. 20 are currently funded by Town/Parish Councils in 
Copeland.  
 
Climate Change – future proofing lights in Copeland 
 
In line with The Climate Change Act 2008 and CBC’s draft Climate & Environmental 
Policy it would be sensible for further work to be undertaken to explore options 
available to contribute to these strategic objectives, reduce the current carbon footprint 
of our lighting assets, and seek to further reduce costs.   

 
Several local authorities have already started the process of reducing their carbon 
emission from street lighting and reducing costs though reduced lighting times, 
introducing solar lighting and undertaking LED lamp/ lantern conversions.   For example: 

 

 Norfolk Council has converted over 13,500 of their lighting to LED which 
over the next 10 years will reduce their carbon emissions by 19.5K tonnes 

Page 43



 CCC has recently exchanged all Highway lighting to LED lighting in an 
effort to drive down costs. It is anticipated that by year two of changing 
to LED lanterns there will be an energy cost saving of £1m 

 North Yorkshire Spends £2.1m on power annually and £1.2m on 
maintenance. Since converting to LED they have reported a reduction of 
40% on power costs and a saving of £1.285m annually over all due to 
warranty periods on new lanterns 

 Other Authorities who have carried out the same LED conversion process 
have also reported a power saving of between 40-50% per annum. 

 Initial research suggests that solar lighting used by local authorities tends 
to be limited to car parks, highway sign illumination and non-highway 
footpaths. This is as a result of the varying levels of performance. 
Generally linked to geographical location and weather effects. Gloomy 
weather and limited sunshine reduces the energy absorbed and leads to 
dimmer lights.  

 
Alternative lighting options available to CBC are as follows.  
 

 Exchanging of normal Sox lamps (bulbs) to LED Sox. The changing of the 
lamp will increase the length of time the lamp functions for but does not 
guarantee longevity as the lantern (bulb housing) will still be of age and 
therefore unreliable. This will reduce energy costs but may not reduce 
the maintenance costs significantly 
 

 Exchanging all Lanterns for LED lanterns. (Lantern is the equipment 
situated at the top of a column or bracket that houses the lamp). If a new 
lantern is installed a 5 year warranty will apply thereby reducing the risk 
of costs if it fails. Reduction in energy and maintenance costs can be 
expected although additional costs may be incurred when fitting. A 
number of columns may need to be re sleeved if these are made from 
concrete or have reduced integrity due to age. 

 

 Exchanging all lanterns for solar lanterns. Solar lanterns come with a 
battery box that would need to sit at the base of or attach to the lighting 
column. Lighting should remove the need for energy costs. Maintenance 
costs will still stand but at a reduced amount and will now feature panel 
cleaning as a regular occurrence. A number of columns may need to be re 
sleeved as these are made from concrete or have reduced integrity due 
to age. 
 

Page 44



*.Indicative costs do not include labour 
** Additional costs may incur if a column needs to be re-sleeved 
 
 
 
 
 
3. CONCLUSIONS  
 
3.1 The Council’s policy position on footway lighting recognises that it can no longer 
continue to manage and maintain these assets within existing revenue budget. 
 
3.2 Through a renewed focus with LGR options need to be considered for a more 
joined up lighting management across the area. Considerations need to be made 
towards returning the 20 lights currently funded by Parish Councils back into the 
Copeland Inventory to ensure that a consistent approach to lighting is carried out on ALL 
lights in Copeland. 
 
 
3.3 CBC does not currently receive best value from its current reactive maintenance 
provider for footway lighting - CCC.  There is an opportunity to invite tenders for a 
proactive maintenance contract for any retained footway lighting assets.   Or 
alternatively a framework could be accessed / set up with other authorities. 
 
3.4 The absence of any planned programme of electrical or visual structural testing 
means that we do not currently know the condition of our footway lighting assets.  A 
decision needs to be made with reference to sourcing a budget to carry out the required 
testing or to upgrade the current standard of lighting provided similar to the recent 
upgrade of all CCC street lighting. 
 
3.5  A research project involving the Commercial Project Officer could be carried out 
to develop lighting options using alternative energy sources and/or conversion to LED 
and / or solar lanterns in suitable locations.    
 
 
 

Type of 

alternative 

Average cost per unit Cost to replace 1200 lights* 

LED lamp £55 per lamp £66K 

LED 
Lantern** 

£200 £240K 

Solar LED £2350 £2.82m 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

Standing Items (Items will only appear on the agenda should there be an update) 

Item Corporate Plan Priority Purpose Lead Officer 

Executive Forward Plan 
 

All To identify any forthcoming 
items which the Committee 
may consider. 

Chief Executive 

Scrutiny Officer Updates All To update the Committee on 
the progress of Task and Finish 
Groups and the Work 
Programme 

Scrutiny Officer 

 

Agenda Items for Committee Meetings 

Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

2nd 
September 
2021 
 
 
 
 

2020/21 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 4 
 

All 
 

Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter four of 
2020/21 
 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 
 

Street Lighting Report 
 

All 
 

Report to update OSC on 
the Street Lighting issue in 
Copeland 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 8



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

 Strategy (M.O.) 

Engagement with 
Schools Update 

All Update regarding the 
engagement agreed with 
schools 

Social Inclusion and 
Community Resilience 
Team Leader 
 

7th October 
2021 
 
 

2021/22 Finance 
Report – Quarter 1 
 

All Report on the financial 
position of Copeland 
Council at the end of 
quarter one of 2020/21 
 

Director of Financial 
Resources 
 

2021/22 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 1 

All Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter one of 
2020/21 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 

Law Centre 
Presentation 

All Presentation to OSC from 
Law Centre regarding CBC 
grant 

Strategic Housing 
Manager 

Ombudsman Annual 
Report 

All Annual Feedback Summary 
of the Comments, 
Compliments & Complaints 
of 2020/21 from the 
Ombudsman 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 

P
age 48



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

Tourism Presentation All Presentation to update OSC 
on Tourism in Copeland 

 

Engagement with 
Town Councils Update 

All Update regarding the 
engagement agreed with 
town councils 

 

4th 
November 
2021 
 
 
 

2021/22 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

All Report on the financial 
position of Copeland 
Council at the end of 
quarter two of 2020/21 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

2021/22 Council 
Performance Plan – 
Quarter 2 

All Report on the performance 
of Copeland Council at the 
end of quarter two of 
2020/21 

Director of Corporate 
Services and 
Commercial  
Strategy (M.O.) 

Budget Consultation All Budget Consultation 
Questions – discussion 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

Budget Monitoring All Monitoring discussion 
regarding the 2020/21 
Budget 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

P
age 49



Date Expected Item Corporate Plan Priority Detail Lead Officer 

2nd 
December 
2021 
 

West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership Update 

All Update from the West 
Cumbria Community Safety 
Partnership as required as 
the Crime and Disorder 
Panel. 

Chief Executive 

Yearly Review All A Review by Scrutiny Officer 
to highlight the work done 
throughout the year, work 
to do in 2022 and any 
improvements 

Scrutiny Officer 

18th January 
2022 
(Special) 

Draft Budget All The Mayor will present their 
Draft Budget proposals for 
the year 2022/2023 

Director of Financial 
Resources 

 

Items to be programmed into the OSC Work Programme 2021/22 

 

P
age 50



      
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Task and Finish Group Monitoring 

Task and Finish 

Group 

 

Chair of Task 
and Finish 
Group 

Progress  Next Step  Estimated 

Completion 

Date 

Health and Wellbeing 
North Copeland 

Cllr John Kane Membership 
confirmed. 

Scope Confirmed. Initial scope redrafted, 
interviewees and questions to be 
confirmed at next meeting. 

March 2022 

Health and Wellbeing 
South Copeland 

Cllr Fee Wilson Membership 
confirmed. 

Scope Confirmed. Initial scope redrafted, 
interviewees and questions to be 
confirmed at next meeting. 

March 2022 

Housing Cllr Mike 
Hawkins 

Membership 
confirmed. 

Group has agreed to delay moving 
forward until Q3 with main project. Small 
projects will continue in the meantime. 

TBC 

Social Media Policy 
Review 

TBC Membership 
Confirmed 

Initial meeting date with members to be 
set up in September. 

TBC 

Effective Digital 
Engagement 

TBC Membership 
Confirmed 

Initial meeting date with members to be 
set up in September. 

January 
2021 

 

 

P
age 51



      
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

Working Group Chair of 
Working 
Group 

Progress Next Step Estimated 
Completion 
Date 

Budget Monitoring TBC Membership 

Confirmed 

Scope to be confirmed at the next 

meeting. 

Ongoing 

Budget Development 

Analysis 

Steven Morgan Membership 

Confirmed 

Scope to be confirmed at the next 

meeting. 

 

P
age 52


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 July 2021
	4 Executive Forward Plan
	5 2020-21 Finance Report - Q4
	6 Engagement with Schools Verbal Update
	7 Footway Lighting Report
	CLT Report - Footway Lighting Aug  19th 2021

	8 Scrutiny Officer Updates
	Task and Finish Group Updates Draft 2021-22


